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SUMMARY 

UNFAIR DISMISSAL - Reason for dismissal including substantial other reason 

UNFAIR DISMISSAL - Reasonableness of dismissal 

REDUNDANCY - Definition 

REDUNDANCY - Fairness 

 

Reason for dismissal - unfair dismissal - statutory redundancy payment 

Fairness of dismissal - unfair dismissal 

Both Claimants were dismissed after the Respondent took the decision to close down the 

workplace in which they were both employed and sought to invoke a contractual mobility 

clause: the Claimants had refused to relocate in accordance with the Respondent’s instruction 

and it had taken the decision that they should be dismissed. 

The Claimants pursued claims before the ET, relevantly claiming unfair dismissal and statutory 

redundancy payments.  Their cases were heard separately but by the same Employment Judge, 

who ruled that they had been dismissed by reason of redundancy, the closure of the workplace 

constituting a redundancy for the purposes of section 139 Employment Rights Act 1996 

(“ERA”), and were therefore entitled to statutory redundancy payments.  The ET also found the 

dismissals to have been unfair, whether by reason of redundancy or, as the Respondent had 

argued, for conduct or some other substantial reason (“SOSR”). 

The Respondent appealed. 

Held: allowing the appeal against the ET’s decision on the statutory redundancy payment 

claims but dismissing the appeal against the decision on unfair dismissal 

The ET had wrongly approached the question of the reason for the dismissals from the 

perspective of there having been a redundancy situation within the definition of section 139 

ERA when it had found that the reason in the Respondent’s mind was related to the Claimants’ 
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refusal to obey the instruction to relocate, issued in reliance on the mobility clause which 

featured in their contracts of employment.  Whether or not there was a redundancy situation, the 

ET still had to approach the question of the reason for the dismissal applying the test laid down 

in Abernethy v Mott, Hay & Anderson [1974] ICR 323 CA.  Doing so, it was apparent (on 

the ET’s findings) that the reason in the Respondent’s mind was one related to the Claimants’ 

conduct - the refusal to obey the instruction to relocate - and the Respondent had been entitled 

to rely on that reason notwithstanding the background of the workplace closure (Curling and 

Ors v Securicor Ltd [1992] IRLR 549 EAT and Home Office v Evans [2008] ICR 302 CA 

applied).  The ET’s finding on the Claimants’ entitlement to statutory redundancy payments 

could not stand, and the appeal would be allowed in this regard. 

That said, in both cases the ET had gone on to consider the question of fairness in the 

alternative.  In so doing, it had applied the three stage test identified by the Respondent, asking 

(1) whether the instruction was lawful (whether the mobility clause relied on was contractual), 

(2) whether the Respondent had acted reasonably in giving that instruction, and (3) whether the 

Claimants had acted reasonably in refusing to comply with that instruction.  It had concluded 

that the mobility clause was too wide and uncertain, had been unreasonably invoked by the 

Respondent and that the Claimants (both faced with an additional 20-30 hours’ commute each 

week, and given that Mr Fitton had brought a property near to his former workplace and did not 

have a car, and that Mr Ewer had worked near to his home town for the Respondent/its 

predecessor for 25 years, would soon be 64 and due to retire a year later) had reasonably 

refused to comply with the instruction.  As the ET had applied the tests identified by the 

Respondent in its alternative, “conduct” findings, had reached permissible conclusions on the 

material before it, and had provided adequate Reasons, there was no basis for overturning the 

decision on fairness, and the appeal in this regard was dismissed. 
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HER HONOUR JUDGE EADY QC  

 

1. In this Judgment I refer to the parties as the Claimants and the Respondent, as they were 

below, save where it is necessary to differentiate between the Claimants, in which case I shall 

do so by name.  This is the Full Hearing of the Respondent’s appeal against two separate 

Judgments of the Watford Employment Tribunal relating to each of the Claimants 

(Employment Judge Manley, sitting alone on 10 and 11 March 2016 in Mr Fitton’s case and on 

14 March 2016 in Mr Ewer’s case; “the ET”), both being sent out on 6 April 2016.  Mr Palmer 

has largely acted for the Respondent throughout.  Mr Fitton appeared in person below, but Mr 

O’Brien has represented Mr Ewer throughout and now also appears for Mr Fitton.  By its 

Judgments the ET found that both Claimants had been dismissed by reason of redundancy, were 

entitled to statutory redundancy payments and had both been unfairly dismissed.   

 

The Relevant Background 

2. The Respondent is an engineering, construction, technology and services company 

mainly working in the oil and gas industry.  In 2011, it took over the company that had 

previously employed the Claimants in what was accepted to be a relevant transfer for the 

purposes of the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006.  

The Respondent had about 1,300 employees, and operated out of two UK sites: Leatherhead 

and Greenford.  Both Claimants worked at Greenford. 

 

3. Mr Fitton had started working for the Respondent’s predecessor in September 2004 

when he was 23; he was 34 when he was dismissed.  He was employed as a Principal Technical 

Professional/Process Engineer.  He transferred to the Respondent’s employment in 2011, as did 

Mr Ewer.  Mr Ewer was a Designer who had started with the Respondent’s predecessor in 
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1990.  He thus had continuous service of some 25 years and was almost 64 when he had 

dismissed.  He had always lived in St Albans. 

 

4. The contracts of employment of both Claimants contained what has been described as a 

mobility clause, which, relevantly, provided as follows: 

“The location of your employment is … but the company may require you to work at a 
different location including any new office location of the company either in the UK or 
overseas either on a temporary or permanent basis.  You agree to comply with this 
requirement unless exceptional circumstances prevail.” 

 

5. The Respondent also has a disciplinary procedure that gives examples of misconduct 

including, at section 4.5.1, “failure to carry out reasonable instructions” and “continued 

disregard for or repeated failure to comply with section 4.5.1 above”.  It also operates a 

redundancy policy that repeats the statutory definition of redundancy but also allows for 

enhanced redundancy pay provision; I have not been taken to that policy during the course of 

argument and should make clear that the appeal before me relates only to the ET’s findings on 

statutory redundancy pay and unfair dismissal. 

 

6. During the course of 2014 there were discussions within the Respondent as to workload 

and office capacity, which resulted in a decision to close the Greenford office and just to have 

one base, in Leatherhead.  After some confidential discussions with employee representatives, 

on 20 April 2015 there was an open meeting for all employees, attended by both Claimants, at 

which it was announced that the Greenford site would be closing at the end of June with 

employees transferring to Leatherhead on 1 July. 

 

7. Mr Fitton then had a meeting with his line manager on 21 April in which he explained 

his personal circumstances and raised his objection to what for him would be a two-hour 
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commute each way to and from Leatherhead.  As the ET recorded, Mr Fitton’s position was that 

he had bought a flat in Harrow in November 2005 and could either walk or get the 

Underground to work, which took him about 20 minutes.  He had no family living with him.  

He was able to drive but had not done so for some years and did not have a car, albeit he was 

aware there might be a possibility of car-sharing.   

 

8. Similarly, Mr Ewer met with his line manager, on 25 April.  It was observed that he was 

highly stressed.  He stated his objection to transferring to Leatherhead on the basis that the 

travel was unacceptable.  He put his objections in writing, and by email of 1 May posed a series 

of questions, having taken advice from his local CAB and its employment lawyer.  He stated 

that the lawyer had questioned the validity of the mobility clause.  He also pointed out what he 

considered to be his own exceptional circumstances as follows: 

“On 4 June 2015 I will have completed 25 years of service for Kellogg/KBR working initially 
in the Wembley office and latterly about 15 years in the Greenford office.  I will be 64 in 
August 2015 and he [sic] felt it would be unreasonable to ask me to transfer to Leatherhead 
which would increase the length of travel for my daily drive from 18 miles each way to 47 
miles in my final year before retirement.  At my age, I should be easing off my daily stress, not 
increasing it considerably by driving nearly 100 miles a day round the M25.” 

 

9. The Respondent responded on 15 May stating that “A test of reasonableness will be 

applied in a tribunal” and continuing: 

“We believe this would pass the reasonable test for the following reasons: 

The offices are within the range of our mobility clause. 

We are consulting collectively and individually about measures being put in place to assist. 

The move is a direct result of an office closure to ensure our future business in challenging 
times.  We are making a contribution to help offset travel costs to all affected individuals of 
longer journeys for a period of 6 months. 

We are offering flexible working opportunities wherever we can lessen the travel burden. 

We are reducing our core times to allow employees with longer journeys to finish earlier to 
assist with the M25 traffic.” 
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The Respondent also stated that it did not consider age and service qualified as exceptional 

circumstances.   

 

10. The ET records the further communications between the parties as follows: 

“17. … [Mr Ewer] said that he wanted to talk about “volunteering for redundancy on terms to 
be agreed” and after some further communication where, in essence, there is very little 
movement, the claimant stated: “I am not resigning.  I think that you should dismiss me on the 
grounds of redundancy because you have shut my workplace and there is no suitable alternative 
for me.” ” 

 

11. Meanwhile, Mr Fitton had also put his objections in writing in an email of 14 May, at 

that point stating that he would be giving in his notice in due course.  Subsequently, on 29 May 

he emailed the Respondent to say he had been given legal advice not to resign and understood 

he was in fact redundant and so entitled to a redundancy payment.  Referring to the mobility 

clause, he said that he had been advised that this was not enforceable as it was not a true 

condition of his employment; he was not routinely required to travel.  The Respondent’s 

response to Mr Fitton was provided on 2 June, recorded by the ET as follows: 

“5.25. That email was acknowledged by Ms Barbeira of Human Resources.  She wrote on 2 
June as follows: 

“Thank you for your emails regarding the mobility clause on redundancy payments. 

The contract of employment signed by all employees contains a mobility clause 
permitting the employer to relocate the employee to a different place of work.  This 
clause has been invoked on a number of occasions, most recently between Greenford 
and Leatherhead for individuals and groups of employees.  The mobility clause is used 
to relocate the employees in order to retain the workforce and ensure continuity of 
delivery to our clients. 

Where employees have specific personal circumstances, these are taken into account 
and redundancy payments made.  This has long been the company practice in 
implementing the mobility clause. 

For the avoidance of doubt roles are being transferred to Leatherhead and are not 
redundant therefore there is no entitlement to a redundancy payment. 

If an employee refuses to comply with the employers [sic] instructions to relocate, the 
employer will be able to fairly dismiss him.  The employee will not be entitled to 
redundancy payments because a principal reason for dismissal is not redundancy but 
the fact that the employee has refused to comply with the terms of their contract.” ” 
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12. That was followed up by an email of 18 June 2015 in which the instruction to move to 

Leatherhead was again given, characterised as fair and reasonable in all the circumstances, with 

the warning: 

“Refusal to comply with the employer’s instructions to relocate and as a consequence failure 
to obey a lawful instruction by the company will be treated as unauthorised unpaid absence 
and as such would be investigated under the disciplinary process.” 

 

13. To allow for the additional costs involved in travelling to Leatherhead, as the ET 

recorded, the Respondent offered compensation for a six-month period; the first three months 

being compensation in full and the second three months at half the differential rate calculated 

for each employee.   

 

14. The last day at the Respondent’s Greenford site for most staff, including Mr Fitton, was 

Friday 26 June; they were then expected to attend at Leatherhead on Monday 29 June.  For Mr 

Ewer there was a slight change in that schedule, such that his team were meant to move to 

Leatherhead at the end of the first week in July.  Desks were organised at Leatherhead for both 

Claimants, but neither attended.  Mr Fitton did attempt to go to work at Greenford on 29 June 

but was not allowed to enter by security staff, and Mr Ewer had made it clear that he had no 

intention of working at Leatherhead and he did not attend the first day he was due to start there, 

Monday 6 July.  Thereafter, there were a few employees who did remain at Greenford finishing 

off some small pieces of work.  There were also a number of employees who left the 

Respondent under the “exceptional circumstances” exception to the mobility clause, and they 

were paid what was expressed to be a redundancy payment; it appears that they were people 

with childcare or elderly parent caring responsibilities. 
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15. Having failed to attend at Leatherhead each of the Claimants were invited to 

disciplinary hearings to discuss their “alleged unacceptable conduct”; specifically, that conduct 

being (Mr Fitton’s Judgment, paragraph 5.31): 

“1. A failure to attend Leatherhead offices from Monday 29 July 2005 [sic] (presumably a 
mistake for June). 

2. Failure to notify your manager of the above absence by phone before 9am. 

3. Refusal to comply with the employer’s instructions to relocate and as a consequence failure 
to obey a lawful instruction of the company.” 

 

16. The disciplinary hearings were each conducted separately by telephone, with each of the 

Claimants re-stating why they would not transfer to Leatherhead.  Specifically, Mr Ewer 

observed that he would have to get up at 4.00am so as to miss the traffic and said it was 

unreasonable to expect him to travel a three-hour journey each way.  Mr Fitton acknowledged 

that he should have made contact with his manager on the morning of 29 June but again 

complained that the travelling time to Leatherhead was excessive.  Following his disciplinary 

hearing Mr Ewer emailed the Respondent pointing out that he would be 64 in August and was 

intending to retire the following year; had he been ten years younger he would have been 

prepared to move to Leatherhead.  He asked for those additional observations to be minuted. 

 

17. The Respondent made the decision that each Claimant should be dismissed, explaining, 

by letter of 17 July in Mr Fitton’s case and 24 July in Mr Ewer’s, as follows (see Mr Fitton’s 

ET Judgment, paragraph 5.34; the substance is the same in both cases): 

“From the above analysis of the three issues of concern, your reluctance to follow well 
established company guidelines, I believe your conduct is serious enough to merit dismissal in 
its own right.  This is the case even though we have taken into account the fact that you do not 
have an active warning on your disciplinary record. 

The company values your contribution and would very much like you to continue as an 
employee of the company and return to work in Leatherhead office [sic] on Monday 20 July 
2015.  However, you have verbally stated that under no circumstances will you return to 
Leatherhead office [sic] and therefore I have no other option but to consider that as stated 
above this is a summary dismissal offence and accordingly I have no option but to now dismiss 
you for failure to attend the Leatherhead office from 29 June 2015 and refuse to comply with 
the company’s instructions.” 



 

 
UKEAT/0205/16/BA 
UKEAT/0206/16/BA 

-7- 

A 

B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

G 

H 

18. As the Respondent viewed this as serious misconduct warranting summary dismissal, no 

notice pay was given.  Both Claimants appealed; both were unsuccessful. 

 

The ET’s Decisions and Reasoning 

19. The ET considered first where was the Claimants’ place of work; finding that, as a 

matter of fact, in each case it was Greenford.  Mr Fitton had been asked to work elsewhere 

during his employment but had not been required to do so.  There was no evidence that Mr 

Ewer had even been asked to work anywhere else.  He had very long service working at 

Greenford, and the ET considered it was (paragraph 37) “really twisting the facts too far to look 

at this from any other way”.   

 

20. The ET further considered when it was that each Claimant had been dismissed.  For the 

Respondent, it was said that the Claimants were not dismissed until after the disciplinary 

hearings.  In Mr Fitton’s case, the ET disagreed, observing that could provide a way for 

employers to avoid redundancy payments simply by not dismissing employees at that particular 

place (see paragraph 20 of the Fitton Judgment).  More specifically, the ET held Mr Fitton had 

been dismissed on 29 June when he attended his place of work and was turned away.  Further, 

that dismissal was for redundancy because as a matter of fact that was the Claimant’s place of 

work and the employer had ceased carrying on business in that place or intended to do so (see 

paragraph 21).  In Mr Ewer’s case it was common ground that he had been dismissed on 24 

July, after his disciplinary hearing.  On that basis, and also on that alternative in Mr Fitton’s 

case, the ET still took the view that the reason for both dismissals was redundancy because the 

Claimants’ place of work had closed; it was not because of the Claimants’ conduct or for some 

other substantial reason as the Respondent was contending.  I pause at this stage to note that in 

the hearing before me Mr O’Brien - now acting for Mr Fitton - stated that he was content to 
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proceed on the basis that in fact the actual date of Mr Fitton’s dismissal was 17 July, when he 

was told that he was summarily dismissed. 

 

21. Addressing the specific point of the mobility clause in Mr Ewer’s case, the ET further 

held as follows: 

“38. I also have to give consideration to how the contractual mobility clause has effect.  The 
difficulty it seems to me is that that clause lacks certainty.  Although it is said by the 
respondent that it is not for me to consider the reasonableness or otherwise of that clause, it 
seems to me that it may be part of my overall consideration.  The clause is very widely 
drafted; it suggests that any employee who has signed this contract agrees to work at any new 
office location either in the UK or overseas either on a temporary or permanent basis.  
Considering the clause further, it goes on to mention exceptional circumstances.  The 
respondent in this case says it was for it to decide what the exceptional circumstances would be 
and it is true that the respondent, in this case, did consider some which would appear, on the 
face of it, to be relatively reasonable exceptional circumstances.  However, it allows for little or 
no individual difficulties with complying with the mobility clause.  I am not convinced that the 
decision of the respondent to decide for itself, from time to time, what exceptional 
circumstances it would accept is one which is clearly within that contractual clause.” 

 

22. That provides a link to what I understand to be the ET’s further alternative findings as to 

the question of fairness, if in fact the Respondent was correct and the reason for the dismissals 

related to the Claimants’ conduct or was for some other substantial reason.  In Mr Fitton’s case, 

the ET expressly made those findings in the alternative (see paragraph 25 and then the 

reasoning at paragraphs 26 to 28).  In Mr Ewer’s case, I have, for the reasons I shall explain 

further below, inferred that this is what it was doing at paragraphs 38 to 40.  In neither case did 

the ET accept that the instruction given was reasonable: for both Claimants, the greatly 

increased travelling time (not disputed and adding anything between 20 and 30 extra hours a 

week) made the instruction to attend at Leatherhead an unreasonable one.  Accepting that the 

Respondent had taken some limited steps to alleviate some of the disadvantages that a longer 

commute might have meant for some of its employees, those were of no significance in the 

Claimants’ cases.  Specifically, in Mr Ewer’s case the ET expressly found his refusal to travel 

to Leatherhead was not unreasonable, given the proximity of his expected retirement, the 

substantial increase in travelling time and his lifelong connection to where he was living. 



 

 
UKEAT/0205/16/BA 
UKEAT/0206/16/BA 

-9- 

A 

B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

G 

H 

23. Further, the ET opined that because the Respondent followed a disciplinary process that 

was predicated on its understanding that there was some misconduct on the part of the 

Claimants, it followed a flawed procedure so far as fairness for any redundancy dismissal was 

concerned.  It did not consult or warn affected employees or search for alternatives.  It did not 

consider offers of suitable employment or trial periods.  In Mr Ewer’s case, the dismissal was of 

a loyal employee with 25 years’ service, it was outside the range of reasonable responses.  Both 

dismissals were unfair. 

 

The Relevant Legal Principles 

24. So far as relevant to the issues raised by this appeal, the Claimants were pursuing 

complaints of unfair dismissal and claims for statutory redundancy payments.  For the purposes 

of the unfair dismissal claims the starting point for the ET was section 98 of the Employment 

Rights Act 1996 (“ERA”), which, relevantly, provides as follows: 

“(1) In determining for the purposes of this Part whether the dismissal of an employee is fair 
or unfair, it is for the employer to show - 

(a) the reason (or, if more than one, the principal reason) for the dismissal, and 

(b) that it is either a reason falling within subsection (2) or some other substantial 
reason of a kind such as to justify the dismissal of an employee holding the position 
which the employee held. 

(2) A reason falls within this subsection if it - 

(a) relates to the capability or qualifications of the employee for performing work of 
the kind which he was employed by the employer to do, 

(b) relates to the conduct of the employee, 

(c) is that the employee was redundant, or 

(d) is that the employee could not continue to work in the position which he held 
without contravention (either on his part or on that of his employer) of a duty or 
restriction imposed by or under an enactment. 

… 

(4) Where the employer has fulfilled the requirements of subsection (1), the determination of 
the question whether the dismissal is fair or unfair (having regard to the reason shown by the 
employer) - 

(a) depends on whether in the circumstances (including the size and administrative 
resources of the employer’s undertaking) the employer acted reasonably or 
unreasonably in treating it as a sufficient reason for dismissing the employee, and 
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(b) shall be determined in accordance with equity and the substantial merits of the 
case.” 

 

25. The Respondent put its case on the basis that the Claimants’ dismissals had been by 

reason of their conduct or, alternatively, for some other substantial reason of a kind such as to 

justify the dismissal of employees holding the positions they held.  Pursuant to section 98(1), it 

was for the Respondent to discharge the burden of proving the reason for the Claimants’ 

dismissals and that it was a reason that was capable of being fair for the purposes of section 

98(1) and (2).  It is common ground before me that it was for the ET to determine the real 

reason for the dismissals; that is, the set of facts known to the employer or beliefs held by it that 

caused it to dismiss the employees (see per Cairns LJ in Abernethy v Mott, Hay and 

Anderson [1974] ICR 323 CA).  The Claimants thus bore no burden as to the reason for their 

dismissals for these purposes, albeit that they were contending that they had in fact been 

dismissed by reason of redundancy. 

 

26. More than that, however, the Claimants were also pursuing claims for redundancy 

payments under section 135 ERA, which, relevantly, provides as follows: 

“135. The right 

(1) An employer shall pay a redundancy payment to any employee of his if the employee - 

(a) is dismissed by the employer by reason of redundancy, …” 

 

27. For these purposes dismissal is defined by section 136 ERA, adopting the same 

language as section 95 does for unfair dismissal purposes; redundancy is then defined by 

section 139, which, relevantly, provides as follows: 

“139. Redundancy 

(1) For the purposes of this Act an employee who is dismissed shall be taken to be dismissed by 
reason of redundancy if the dismissal is wholly or mainly attributable to - 

(a) the fact that his employer has ceased or intends to cease - 
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(i) to carry on the business for the purposes of which the employee was 
employed by him, or 

(ii) to carry on that business in the place where the employee was so employed, 
…” 

 

28. Where a claim is made for a redundancy payment, section 163(2) ERA further provides: 

“For the purposes of any such reference, an employee who has been dismissed by his employer 
shall, unless the contrary is proved, be presumed to have been so dismissed by reason of 
redundancy.” 

 

29. When considering the question as to the place where the employee was employed for 

the purposes of section 139(1)(a)(i), the ET is engaged upon a factual enquiry rather than a 

contractual determination, see High Table Ltd v Horst [1997] IRLR 513 CA, where Peter 

Gibson LJ explained: 

“22. … The question it poses - where was the employee employed by the employer for the 
purposes of the business? - is one to be answered primarily by a consideration of the factual 
circumstances which obtained until the dismissal.  If an employee has worked in only one 
location under his contract of employment for the purposes of the employer’s business, it 
defies common sense to widen the extent of the place where he was so employed, merely 
because of the existence of a mobility clause.  Of course, the refusal by the employee to obey a 
lawful requirement under the contract of employment for the employee to move may 
constitute a valid reason for dismissal, but the issues of dismissal, redundancy and 
reasonableness in the actions of an employer should be kept distinct.  It would be unfortunate 
if the law were to encourage the inclusion of mobility clauses in contracts of employment to 
defeat genuine redundancy claims.  Parliament has recognised the importance of the 
employee’s right to a redundancy payment.  If the work of the employee for his employer has 
involved a change of location, as would be the case where the nature of the work required the 
employee to go from place to place, then the contract of employment may be helpful to 
determine the extent of the place where the employee was employed.  But it cannot be right to 
let the contract be the sole determinant, regardless of where the employee actually worked for 
the employer.  The question what was the place of employment is one that can safely be left to 
the good sense of the industrial tribunal.” 

 

30. Returning to the question of unfair dismissal, if the employer is able to demonstrate a 

potentially fair reason for the dismissal, the ET will consider the question of fairness under 

section 98(4) ERA, at which stage the burden is neutral as between the parties.  In the case of a 

conduct dismissal - this being the primary reason asserted by the Respondent in the present case 

- the ET will be guided by the leading case of British Home Stores Ltd v Burchell [1980] ICR 

303 EAT, which will require it to consider whether the Respondent had reasonable grounds for 
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its belief in the employee’s (mis)conduct, founded upon a reasonable investigation.  The test 

that the ET is to apply at all stages of its determination of the question of fairness for the 

purposes of section 98(4) is whether the Respondent’s decision fell within the band of 

reasonable responses of the reasonable employer (see Iceland Frozen Foods Ltd v Jones 

[1982] IRLR 439 EAT and Sainsbury’s Supermarkets Ltd v Hitt [2003] IRLR 23 CA). 

 

31. In the present case the Respondent was relying on the Claimants’ refusal to relocate, to 

obey what the Respondent considered to be a lawful and reasonable instruction given the 

contractual mobility clause: it was the Claimants’ refusal to obey that instruction that the 

Respondent relied on as the misconduct or the other substantial reason.  For the Claimants, 

however, the fact that there was a redundancy situation was considered to be the real reason for 

the dismissals: the cessation of the Respondent’s business at their workplace was the 

determining issue, and the existence of the mobility clause did not change that. 

 

32. The potential issues arising in relation to an employer’s reliance on a contractual 

mobility clause against a background of a redundancy situation have been discussed, notably by 

a different division of this court, Knox J presiding, in the case of Curling and Ors v Securicor 

Ltd [1992] IRLR 549 EAT, where it was observed as follows: 

“14. There are two quite different attitudes which an employer can take in a situation such as 
arose at the Beehive at Gatwick, of the closing down of a part of his business.  The employer 
can invoke the mobility clause in the contract and require the employee to go to a new location 
or job, if the clause entitles him to do so, whereupon no question of redundancy will arise.  
Alternatively, the employer can decide not to invoke the mobility clause and rely instead on 
alternative suitable offers of employment as a defence to claims to a redundancy payment.  In 
the former example, the original employment continues, in the latter it ceases but is replaced 
in circumstances which, unless the employee unreasonably refuses the offer of suitable 
alternative employment, provide the employee with continuity of employment but relieve the 
employer of liability to make a redundancy payment.  What the employers cannot do is dodge 
between the two attitudes and hope to be able to adopt the most profitable at the end of the 
day.” 
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33. That approach was subsequently approved by the Court of Appeal in the case of Home 

Office v Evans and Anor [2008] ICR 302, per Mummery LJ: 

“50. Secondly, the tribunal was wrong to treat Curling … as authority for the proposition that 
the employer is not legally entitled to invoke a mobility clause when a redundancy situation 
might arise or has arisen on the closure of part of a business.  In my judgment, Curling is a 
case in which the employer was not entitled to rely on the mobility obligations at the hearing in 
the tribunal, as it had already implemented the redundancy procedure in which the employees 
had participated, and had not sought to rely on the contractual mobility obligations until the 
hearing, by which time the tribunal considered that it was too late to raise a new point. 

51. In this case there is no question of the Home Office dodging from one contractual 
procedure to another, having left it too late to invoke the mobility obligations, or having 
waived its right to invoke them.  From the time of its staff announcement of the decision to 
close WIT the Home Office made it clear to the claimants that it was invoking the mobility 
obligations and would be following that procedure, not the redundancy procedure, which it 
consistently did. 

52. In short there was nothing in the Curling decision or in the “no dodging” principle to stop 
the Home Office from invoking its contractual right to enforce the mobility obligation in the 
circumstances of this case.” 

 

34. Should an employer seek to rely on a contractual mobility clause, that is not the end of 

the issue so far as any claim of unfair dismissal is concerned.  Mr Palmer submits that the 

questions that then arise for the purposes of section 98(4) can be summarised as follows: 

“(a) Whether or not the instruction given is legitimate - in terms that it was one capable of 
being given under the contract of employment; 

(b) Was the order reasonable - in terms was the nature of the order unreasonable? 

(c) Whether or not the employee’s refusal to comply was itself reasonable - in the 
circumstances of a dismissal, the employee’s refusal to comply with an instruction may be 
reasonable (see UCATT v Brain [1981] ICR 542 CA).” 

 

35. There is no automatically implied right that permits an employer to transfer an 

employee - at least, not beyond a reasonable travelling distance for the employee - but this is a 

case involving an express mobility.  In such circumstances, however, the Respondent accepts 

that the clause must still be read subject to the necessary implication that there is a requirement 

to give reasonable notice and also to exercise such discretion as the employer has reserved to 

itself in such a way as not to make performance of the employee’s duties impossible (see 

paragraph 46 United Bank Ltd v Akhtar [1989] IRLR 507 EAT, Knox J presiding).  It is 
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further accepted that there is also some overlap between an express contractual obligation such 

as a mobility clause and the implied duty to maintain trust and confidence (see as allowed by 

the EAT in White v Reflecting Roadstuds Ltd [1991] ICR 733 at 742F-G). 

 

36. Of course, in the present case the ET was concerned not simply with the contractual 

position - although that had some relevance on the Respondent’s case as it went to the 

lawfulness of the instruction - but also with the question of fairness for section 98(4) purposes, 

and it is trite law that a dismissal might be unfair even though the employer is contractually 

entitled to dismiss the employee (see Farrant v The Woodroffe School [1998] ICR 184 EAT, 

HHJ Peter Clark presiding). 

 

The Appeal 

37. The grounds of appeal in the two cases are substantively in the same terms and can be 

considered under the following heads: (1) the ET erred in law in determining that there was a 

redundancy dismissal in circumstances in which an express mobility clause had been invoked, 

alternatively, if the ET adopted the correct approach, it failed to provide adequate Reasons; (2) 

the ET adopted an erroneous approach to section 139 ERA, irrespective of the mobility clause 

issue, using section 139 as a tool to identify a dismissal rather than the reason for the dismissal, 

alternatively, it gave insufficient Reasons in this regard; (3) the ET adopted an erroneous 

approach to concurrent claims of unfair dismissal and for a redundancy payment where the 

dismissals were for misconduct, alternatively, again, the ET provided inadequate Reasons; and 

(4) in the further alternative, the ET’s finding that the dismissal was by reason of redundancy 

but assessing fairness in regard to the reason of conduct was perverse.   

 

38. The Claimants resist the appeal, essentially relying on the reasoning of the ET. 
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Submissions 

The Respondent’s Case 

39. On behalf of the Respondent it is contended that the ET erred in failing to approach 

these cases as ones in which an express mobility clause had been invoked; that is, adopting the 

approach to the employer’s reason for the dismissals as allowed in Curling and Evans; it 

wrongly allowed its finding of a redundancy situation, meeting the definition provided by 

section 139 ERA, to inform its conclusion as to the reason for the dismissal.  In Mr Fitton’s 

case, it had gone further and erroneously found the date of the dismissal to be 29 June 2015 

rather than at the end of the disciplinary process.  Had the ET defined the reason for dismissals 

properly, it would have needed to ask in each case whether the dismissals were fair.  The tests 

that it would have needed to apply being those set out at paragraph 37 of the Respondent’s 

skeleton argument (see above). 

 

40. As for the ET’s alternative findings in Mr Fitton’s case, those were insufficient.  The ET 

had elided the reasonableness of the Respondent’s invocation of the mobility clause with the 

reasonableness of Mr Fitton’s refusal to obey the instruction to relocate.  It had failed to include 

in its conclusions the measures that the Respondent had put in place to mitigate the difficulties 

of relocation, and although those were referenced at an earlier stage of the Decision that was 

not adequately reasoned as part of the ET’s alternative conclusions.  The Respondent could not 

be satisfied that the ET had properly had regard to those matters, although (at least in Mr 

Fitton’s case) the Respondent was not saying that the ET had fallen into the error of 

substitution.   

 

41. As for Mr Ewer’s case, the Respondent did not accept that paragraphs 38 to 40 of the 

reasoning amounted to alternative reasoning if the dismissal was by reason of conduct.  
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Accepting that it might be possible to read paragraphs 38 to 40 as addressing the questions the 

Respondent had said needed to be asked if the ET had approached this as a conduct unfair 

dismissal case, there was no express indication by the ET that this was what it had done.  Even 

if it was, paragraph 38 did not demonstrate that the ET was properly asking whether the 

mobility clause was reasonable in an Akhtar sense.  Moreover, the ET was putting itself into 

the shoes of the employer.  Although substitution was not expressly raised in the grounds of 

appeal, the Respondent relied on its general contention of wrong approach to reason, 

inadequacy of Reasons and/or perversity in this regard.  Whilst to say the ET’s conclusion was 

perverse might be strained, the ET had needed to take into account any measures that the 

Respondent was offering by way of mitigation, and, as in Mr Fitton’s case, the ET’s 

conclusions did not expressly refer to those measures. 

 

The Claimants’ Case 

42. On behalf of the Claimants it was submitted that the ET’s finding of fact was that the 

dismissals were by reason of redundancy; that was not susceptible to challenge on appeal.  

There had been a presumption that the dismissals were by reason of redundancy because there 

were claims for statutory redundancy payments before the ET.  The ET was entitled to reach 

that conclusion given the evidence and material before it, which demonstrated that there was a 

redundancy as a matter of fact for the purposes of section 139 ERA.  The ET had in any event 

considered the mobility clause but found as a fact that it was not reasonable.  That was, again, a 

matter for the ET, and no error of law was disclosed.  Akhtar showed that the mere existence 

of a mobility clause did not mean that it was lawful and reasonable for the Respondent to 

invoke it.  The ET had expressly looked at the lawfulness and reasonableness of the mobility 

clause in Mr Ewer’s case and the same reasoning would have to apply to Mr Fitton’s case.  It 
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was the same clause in both instances.  The ET had been entitled to reach the conclusion it did 

regarding the mobility clause.  There was no error of law in his regard. 

 

43. As for insufficient Reasons, the ET had complied with Rule 62 of the Employment 

Tribunals (Constitution and Rules of Procedure) Regulations 2013.  Its Reasons were 

compliant with Meek v City of Birmingham District Council [1987] IRLR 250 CA; the 

parties could understand why they had won or lost.  More specifically, on ground 2, the ET had 

not used section 139 to identify whether there was a dismissal as the Respondent had 

contended.  Accepting for Mr Fitton that the later date - the end of the disciplinary process - 

was the date of dismissal, the ET had made findings in the alternative in any event; thus, on 

ground 3, the ET had been entitled to find that the extra travelling time was sufficient to make 

the commute unreasonable.  There was no error of law in this factual finding.  Similarly, the 

ET’s conclusion that these redundancy dismissals were unfair (ground 4) were findings of fact, 

and it had also made factual findings in the alternative on the misconduct dismissal.  Properly 

approached, there could be no challenge to the ET’s conclusions. 

 

Discussion and Conclusions 

44. The ET was concerned in these cases with two claims: of unfair dismissal and for a 

statutory redundancy payment (at least, those are the two claims with which this appeal is 

concerned).  It was admitted that both Claimants had been dismissed.  The first question was: 

what was the reason for those dismissals? 

 

45. The dismissals undoubtedly took place against what might commonly be described as a 

redundancy situation: the Respondent was either ceasing to carry on business in the place where 

the Claimants were employed or certainly had a diminishing requirement for employees to 
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carry out the work that the Claimants were employed to do in that place (section 139 ERA), but 

was that the reason for the dismissals?  If not, the Claimants would not have been dismissed by 

reason of redundancy for either statutory purpose (even allowing for the presumption of 

redundancy as the reason for dismissal under section 163(2) ERA). 

 

46. In Mr Fitton’s case, the ET also had to resolve a dispute as to the date of the dismissal.  

That has fallen away before me, as Mr O’Brien has volunteered that the later date - 17 July, at 

the end of the disciplinary hearing - was the correct date.   

 

47. Returning then to the reason for the dismissals, as Mr O’Brien says, determination of 

this issue was a matter for the ET; it involves a finding of fact as to what were the set of facts, 

or beliefs, operating on the mind of the relevant decision maker at the relevant time.  I should 

not lightly interfere with an ET’s finding of fact in that respect.  In the present cases, however, I 

consider the ET’s reasoning discloses an error of approach.  It has started from its finding that 

there was a redundancy situation for the purposes of section 139 and allowed that to inform its 

finding as to the reason for the dismissal.  That, however, was not the correct direction of travel.  

The ET first had to ask what it was that the Respondent genuinely had in mind.  It had in fact 

answered that question.  In Mr Fitton’s case, it held that: 

“26. … those acting on behalf of the respondent believed, perhaps genuinely and honestly, that 
it was a reasonable instruction to require the claimant to attend at Leatherhead. …” 

 

In Mr Ewer’s case, the finding is put all the more strongly.  First, in dismissing a claim of 

automatic unfair dismissal that does not otherwise concern me, the ET concluded: 

“36. … He was dismissed because the respondent believed that it could rely on the mobility 
clause when closing his workplace and asking him to attend elsewhere, not because he asked 
for a redundancy payment.” 
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Then: 

“37. I therefore turn to the question of whether the respondent has satisfied me that the reason 
that it dismissed the claimant was, as it argues, the misconduct or some other substantial 
reason.  I am not so satisfied.  I am satisfied that the respondent believed that it was so entitled 
but I do not accept that the respondent was entitled to dismiss the claimant for this reason. …” 

 

48. The ET’s explanation of its conclusion thus reveals its error: it failed to keep its focus 

on what the Respondent genuinely thought as a matter of subjective fact and instead imported 

its view as to the reasonableness of relying on that reason, not properly the question for the ET 

at that stage.   

 

49. Although there may have been a redundancy situation, on the findings made by the ET 

the Respondent’s belief was that it had a right to instruct the Claimants to relocate under the 

mobility clause, and it was, as the ET plainly found, their refusal to obey that instruction that 

caused the Respondent to determine that they should be dismissed.  That meant no statutory 

redundancy payment was due (I make no observations as to any entitlement to a contractual 

redundancy payment, because that is not a matter that has been properly raised on these 

appeals). 

 

50. That said, the ET’s finding on reason would not complete its task in terms of the unfair 

dismissal claims, although Mr Palmer says it is the end of the story so far as these appeals are 

concerned: having approached these cases as redundancy dismissals, the ET simply did not 

consider the issue of fairness looking at it through the right lens; it failed to ask the right 

question for a conduct unfair dismissal case and its reasoning was tainted by its view that these 

were redundancy cases; to the extent that it made alternative findings, those were insufficient as 

they failed to properly consider the question of lawfulness and reasonableness from the 
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Respondent’s perspective and were inadequately reasoned; in Mr Ewer’s case it was not even 

apparent that the ET had undertaken the task of making alternative findings. 

 

51. In oral argument I pressed Mr Palmer to identify for me how he said the ET’s alternative 

findings failed to address the three stage test he had identified in his skeleton argument (see 

above).  Apart from observing that the ET had failed to expressly incorporate reference to the 

Respondent’s mitigating steps in its alternative conclusions, I was not persuaded that he was 

able to do so.   

 

52. To descend to the detail rather more in each case, in respect of Mr Ewer, I allow that the 

ET did not expressly say that paragraphs 38 to 40 represented alternative findings (should it be 

wrong in its conclusion that the reason for dismissal was redundancy) and it could be said - 

although in fact Mr Palmer did not take this point - that paragraph 41 might seem to be a 

limitation to the ET’s alternative finding.  All that said, I remind myself this is a Judgment of an 

ET, which one cannot expect to drafted to the highest standards of legal draftsmanship; such a 

Judgment may well contain infelicities, awkwardnesses of expression and apparent 

inconsistencies that derive from the pressures under which ETs operate.  Moreover, it is trite 

that a Judgment must be taken overall and viewed as a whole.  In this case, I consider that the 

substance of the ET’s findings is clear: paragraphs 38 to 40 represent its consideration and 

determination of the issues that would arise if approaching this - contrary to the ET’s primary 

view - as a dismissal by reason of conduct (the Respondent’s case).  The ET then followed the 

structure of the questions that the Respondent had said would arise on that basis (see the 

Respondent’s written submissions before the ET, at page 163 of the EAT’s bundle).  It 

considered whether the instruction had been legitimate - in the sense that it was a valid 

contractual requirement - and concluded it was not (see Reasons, paragraph 38 of the Judgment 



 

 
UKEAT/0205/16/BA 
UKEAT/0206/16/BA 

-21- 

A 

B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

G 

H 

in Mr Ewer’s case).  It then turned to the question whether the instruction was reasonable; again 

concluding it was not (see paragraph 39).  It finally asked whether Mr Ewer’s refusal was 

reasonable, concluding that it was (paragraph 40).  Although the ET did not expressly repeat its 

earlier recitation of the mitigating steps that the Respondent had put in place, I do not think that 

I can infer that it lost sight of those matters.   

 

53. During oral argument, I posed the question whether it was being said that the ET had 

fallen into the error of substitution, but that was not in fact a point taken on the Notice of 

Appeal and, in any event, I do not think that that would be a fair reading of the ET’s reasoning.  

As for perversity, I do not think that it could properly be said that the ET’s conclusion on 

fairness was perverse given the facts of the case.  And, as for adequacy of Reasons: judging the 

Reasons against the questions that the Respondent said had to be answered, I consider they are 

plainly adequate.  Each question is answered. 

 

54. For completeness, it seems to me that at paragraph 41 of the Judgment in Mr Ewer’s 

case the ET returned to the question of fairness if redundancy should be the real reason for 

dismissal.  That did not undermine the fact that it had already made alternative findings on a 

conduct dismissal at paragraphs 38 to 40. 

 

55. Turning to Mr Fitton’s case, the ET’s position is made clear at paragraph 25 in terms of 

making alterative findings.  Although I can see that there might be some objection to the ET’s 

failure to expressly engage with the first stage identified by the Respondent - the lawfulness of 

the instruction in terms of the contractual position - I think that Mr O’Brien is right that this can 

go nowhere: given the ET’s express finding on that question in Mr Ewer’s case; the answer is 

obvious and the finding on fairness is not undermined by its apparent failure to include the 
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identical paragraph in Mr Fitton’s case.  As for the remaining two questions, they are again 

addressed head on at paragraphs 26 and 27 of the Judgment in Mr Fitton’s case.  Again, I 

consider the reasoning to be adequate to the task, allowing that the ET had earlier expressly 

referenced the mitigating measures put in place by the Respondent, and, on the particular facts 

of this case (see above), am unable to say that the Respondent has discharged the heavy burden 

of showing that the conclusion reached was perverse. 

 

Disposal 

56. For those reasons, I allow the appeal on the statutory redundancy payment claims but 

dismiss it on the unfair dismissal claims for the reasons I have explained in my Judgment. 

 

57. For the Respondent, Mr Palmer now seeks permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal 

in respect of my findings adverse to his clients on the question of fairness for the purposes of 

the unfair dismissal claim, submitting that my Judgment falls into the same error of law as the 

ET.  Given that I have expressly approached the question of fairness through the gateway of a 

conduct dismissal rather than the redundancy reason (the primary finding of the ET), that is not 

a characterisation I follow, but in any event, for the reasons I have already provided, I do not 

see that a point of law arises.  Ultimately, the Respondent lost on the unfair dismissal claim 

because of permissible findings on the part of the first instance Tribunal. 


